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The following information has been shared over time and again at the Regular Board Meeting of 
Coleman Community Schools on June 15, 2020, at 6:00 p.m. Ensuring Coleman Community Schools is 
able to transport its students is the primary goal on the minds of the Board of Education and 
Administration when it considered posting a Request for Proposal (RFP) for Transportation. Over no less 
than the past four (4) years, it has become increasingly difficult to fill bus driver and attendant slots on a 
daily basis. This significantly impacts school to home and extra trips for our students because we do not 
have extra people to transport. We are concerned that we may not have people to transport students 
home on time. Due to these concerns over a significant time, it was determined that the RFP should be 
posted this spring. The following are additional talking points that may be helpful to your understanding 
of the decision to post the RFP.  

Should you have additional questions, please do not hesitate to contact me at 
jmccormack@colemanschools.net or 989.465.6060. 

Sincerely, 

Jennifer McCormack, Superintendent 

What is an RFP? An RFP is a Request for Proposal document created to outline the requirements for a 
specific project, in this case, a bid for management of transportation services for Coleman Community 
Schools. It is posted on the District’s website and companies may also be notified. These companies can 
include the employee support staff union (CESPA) which can decide if it is interested in bidding.  

What does a third party company do? In this case, the third party company is responsible for the 
management of all transportation services in collaboration with the school district. As a point of 
reference, another management company we have worked with since 2015 is Chartwells, which 
manages our Food Service Department, with many of our own Coleman community members as its staff 
on our team working with our students. 
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What is the primary goal of the District in posting this RFP? The primary goal of this RFP is to ensure 
the ability to transport students to and from home and school, to special education programming 
through the Midland County Educational Service Agency (MCESA) when necessary and for extra trips 
such as field trips, athletics and extra-curricular activities. We seek to offer more and varied activities for 
our students but must have the staff to transport.  

What are the issues? Why did the District opt for the RFP? For the past four years, the ability to hire a 
full driver/attendant transportation staff that can meet State standards and maintain CDL licensing has 
been extremely difficult. We are very proud of the drivers we have, providing a solid base for our District 
as we move forward. There are just not enough of them and the pool we have to draw from is limited. 
Since 2017-2018 we have had to utilize our substitutes every single day because we cannot hire enough 
drivers. We have looked at consolidating routes whenever possible, but run them very tight as it is. 
When we were able to consolidate a route, a retirement caused us to again use our substitutes every 
day. For the 2019-2020 school year, custodians/multiple custodial staff members have been utilized 
every day in order to have enough drivers to get students to school and home. Our 
Transportation/Maintenance/Custodial Supervisor also drives bus to fill slots. For the coming school 
year, without a Third Party Company, we will already be short four (4) drivers to start the fall even with 
having a substitute driving a route.  

Utilizing custodial daytime staff after their shifts is an overtime cost to the District; while some time is 
built in to the custodial afternoon staff schedule for bus garage, driving pulls them away from getting 
ready for evening events, providing less time for cleaning/maintenance of the buildings.  

The current logistics are not sustainable with a skeleton crew. The pressure to not take days off or come 
in sick leads to a poor work/life balance for all.  

What has the District been doing about this lack of drivers/attendants before landing on 
privatization? On a weekly basis, the Transportation Director and Superintendent discussed the issues 
and other possible ways of filling positions. Ideas from conferences where over 100 districts were in 
attendance were reviewed and anything new was tried, other than privatization. Starting in late Fall 
2018, incentives were offered for all new hires to encourage them to work with us. This included 
district-provided stipends for training and trainer, district-paid temporary CDL and district-paid 
fingerprinting. Positions including driver, attendant and substitute for both have been posted on-going 
for the past three (3) years or more and reposted repeatedly each month on social media, website, to all 
staff emails and to community committees. We ask people to apply who might be interested when at 
community and committee meetings and we’ve contacted local companies who might be willing to 
share drivers who are on other schedules, etc. We are struggling to find a place to train those who train 
our drivers as there are fewer and fewer places who provide this service. And, if we send a driver to 
become a trainer for a week, we lose that person that is desperately needed to be on a bus. The reality 
is, with Coleman, this is a 15-hour per week job plus any extra trips the drivers choose to take. Districts 
locally, State-wide and Nationally are struggling to find drivers. With larger management companies, 
drivers have the option of picking up other extra trips from local schools to supplement income.  



Will my child have a different driver every day? Will my child have a driver I know? Auxilio’s plan, for 
the benefit of the employees and the students, is to keep things consistent and as close to what is 
currently done as they remember it. The District has emphasize the importance of this to our employees 
and community and they will work hard to hire the existing staff so they can stay on the routes and with 
the kids they know. Auxilio’s plan is never to try and have a revolving door on a bus and work to achieve 
consistency as that is the best and safest. Drivers/attendants have the opportunity on June 22nd and 23rd 
as noted below to meet with Auxilio and the District again to learn more about the company, benefits, 
wages which are an increase from current wages, opportunities for advancement and to earn in other 
ways, 401K and paid trainings. At the end of the meeting, the drivers/attendants will leave with a no 
obligation offer letter.  

Can you consolidate more routes so you need less drivers? Currently we have routes that are in 
Coleman District only that are about 1 hour to 1 hour and 15 minutes long. Consolidating the routes to 
have enough drivers with just those on staff now would increase the amount of time students would be 
on the buses. Students who go to MCESA (Midland County Educational Service Agency) for special 
education programming already have longer bus times.  

When did the District discuss with the drivers/attendants about this potential change? In the past four 
years there have been multiple meetings with the Transportation staff and the Superintendent (e.g. 
Spring 2019, Jan./Feb. 2020, 2 meetings in Spring 2020) in addition to conversations with the 
Transportation Director as positions could not be filled. At those meetings, the Superintendent asked 
what ideas staff had and discussed the impacts and possibilities of those ideas. Some of those ideas 
were taken back and tried. Following the meeting in Jan./Feb. 2020, the Superintendent and Supervisor 
met with different individuals to answer questions as best they could. At the same Jan./Feb. meeting 
and individual meetings that followed, it was reiterated what a difficult time we were having filling 
positions and that as anything was decided the first to hear about it would be the drivers/attendants. On 
April 6th, all transportation department employees were invited to a meeting at the Jr./Sr. High following 
their food delivery bus route. We shared with them at that time that the District would be posting an 
RFP for Transportation. The week of April 6th, the District Payroll/Benefits Specialist, at the 
Superintendent’s request contacted each driver/attendant to ensure they knew about a meeting on 
April 13th about the RFP and to give them any information and provide them with contact information 
they may need, in case they were not checking their email. The meeting held on April 13th provided time 
for transportation employees to ask questions of District Administration and one of the potential 
bidders, including those who had been employed by a local district and were now working for the 
company. Staff were encouraged to call the Board Office with questions they may have and we would 
answer them or direct those questions.  

Was CESPA informed that the district was going to post an RFP for Transportation? Yes. On April 6th a 
phone call was made to the CESPA President, followed by an email on April 7th, notifying CESPA that an 
RFP was going to be posted on our website in the coming weeks and that they have the right and 
opportunity to bid if they so choose.  



Did the District discuss this RFP with the rest of the staff? Yes, on April 8th at a Zoom All Staff Meeting 
and at some of the following weekly meetings. Staff were encouraged to ask questions during and after 
the meeting.  

Did the District share information about the RFP with the community? Yes, on April 9th at a publicized 
Community Zoom Meeting and again another community meeting.  

What has been the process for the RFP? Multiple companies and CESPA, the Coleman Educational 
Support Personnel Association, were contacted to inform that a bid was being posted. As part of the 
process of the RFP, local transportation RFPs, needs and goals for Coleman School District and its 
community were reviewed and outlined in the RFP. The timeline within the posted RFP for Pre-Bid 
Questions, Walk-Throughs, Bid Opening and Review of Proposals was followed. The Finance Committee 
of the Board was able to review the bids after opening, ask questions multiple times which were then 
taken back to the management companies for clarification and negotiation of pricing and services. Once 
the negotiation brought the District to a cost that was comparable to current costs, a recommendation 
was made to the Board of Education at the June 15, 2020, Regular Board Meeting.  

What is the decision with regard to hiring of a third party management company? On June 15th, 2020, 
at 6:00 p.m. at the Regular Meeting of the Coleman Community School Board of Education, information 
contained within this document was shared with the Board of Education by the District Superintendent. 
At that time, and based on all the groundwork and information, a recommendation was made to the 
Board to award Auxilio, Inc. the transportation contract per Resolution 2020-3 (included at the end of 
this document). The Resolution was read, moved and supported with a 6-0 vote approving Auxilio.  The 
District’s current Transportation/Maintenance/Custodial Director, will continue in the role of 
Maintenance/Custodial Director but will also serve as a liaison between the District and Auxilio based on 
his expertise of the department.  
 
What services are provided by Auxilio (the management company)? Services provided include: a full-
time manager/dispatch/routing, part-time mechanic, provision of drivers, including current Coleman 
drivers who are interested, routing software, insurance, uniforms, continuing employee education, 
licensing, drug screening, daily school bus runs including runs for students with special needs, after 
school and summer school program runs, field trip, athletics and extra-curricular transportation, GPS. 
Fuel will continue to be purchased by the District due to discounts it receives. Maintenance will continue 
by the part-time mechanic for all projects that can be done on school premises, similar to how they are 
now done. Larger repairs will continue to be done by partners in the community as we do currently. 
Parts will be paid for by the District.  

Is this just a money-saving plan? No. The primary goal of the hiring of Auxilio is to ensure students have 
transportation and that we are able to continue providing that transportation for school and various 
extra-curricular events as we provide more options to our students. That said, we always work to remain 
fiscally responsible and the contract is in line with what we are currently spending. We are only billed for 
those actual hours used so the contract is our best estimate based on current trends and information 
over the past several years. We currently spend approximately $511,000 on transportation and all 
related resources and services. A FID report shared showed that our costs in 2009-2010 were $511,399. 



Some people have stated that we have done an outstanding job of maintaining our budget from that 
time and why would we want to work with a management company. However, some important 
information is that in 2009-10 bus replacement was included in transportation costs from General Fund 
to the tune of $116,492. If you take the difference, our costs in 2009-10 without bus replacement was 
$394,907. In 2019-2020, our costs are approximately $511,000. That is a significant increase in costs 
from that time compared with what we now spend. Other bus replacement costs in the following years 
out of General Fund were: 2010-11- $33,110; 2011-12 $106,235; 2012-13 $0; 2013-14 $58,000. 

Is a management company a safe option for the students of Coleman and why? Yes, this is a safe 
option for many reasons. First of all, Auxilio works collaboratively with the District on issues involving 
students. Our current drivers can become part of Auxilio if they so choose providing they continue to 
pass all driver requirements as they have with Coleman Community Schools. Auxilio holds its safety at 
the highest level, doing complete background screening on all employees every year, random drug 
testing, continuing education for our drivers, safety meetings every 6 weeks during the school year and 
120-point inspections every month on all buses.  Managers and mechanics are expected to go to MAPT 
to take classes and be brought up to date on laws and regulations. Auxilio has a compliance department, 
higher levels of insurance and regional, area and operational managers to support and follow-up with 
and support staff.  They emphasize the highest levels of cleaning and sanitization, including during the 
COVID-19 issues, for buses. There is mandatory training for drivers who have had an incident. Support 
through training is given to employees on the best way to work with students, parents, bus stops and 
incidents at bus stops, teachers and community members along with inclement weather 
training.  Random drive along with management and trainers occur to make sure drivers are doing their 
job properly. Emergency evacuation training is done every year along with CPR and Epi Pen training, 
training on behavioral strategies for students, rewarding of drivers for safety and attendance and more.  
 
How are bus drivers vetted and trained with the management company? All new hires are put through 
extensive motor vehicles and background checks as well as pre-employment drug screens and are put 
into the random drug screening pool.  All of our drivers/new hires are required to go through 20 hours 
of observed driver training and coaching on safety for the driver and student, if needed. All drivers 
yearly watch the Global Compliance Network videos which account for another 20 hours of training in 
addition to bi-monthly safety training and in-service safety meetings that Coleman Schools 
administration staff are invited to attend. Another 35 hours includes a school bus safety training 
program to ensure well-rounded, safe drivers. Auxilio’s transportation directors annually attend a safety 
leadership program that ensures they are following and reminded of all protocols to provide a safe 
environment for all students and drivers. Auxilio’s transportation directors, area managers and safety 
compliance personnel do spot checks at locations, a “ride alongs” during the year and coaching when 
necessary. All drivers are paid to participate in any of these trainings where there is an open 
environment for communication and collaboration through discussion.  
 
Will buses be maintained appropriately by Auxilio? Maintenance includes: 12- point inspections every 
month, weekly walk through by manager to check buses, immediate attention given to problems on 
buses, oil changes are based on hours driven, tire rotations every two months, test drives by mechanics 
and managers, more than one mechanic in the area. 
  
What happens to our school buses? Coleman Community Schools retains its own buses and leases them 
to Auxilio as part of the contract while they are our management company. Auxilio will also pay for all 
insurance on the buses. We currently have a rotation of replacing our buses through bond funds to 



maintain and solid and safe fleet for our students. In 2009-2010 through 2013-2014, bus replacement 
costs were part of our General Fund.  

What about the drivers/attendants who currently work for Coleman Community Schools? We 
encourage the current Coleman Community Schools drivers/attendants to work with Auxilio because 
they will still be a part of our Coleman team. They know our students, community and routes best. We 
are proud of these staff members. As mentioned earlier, however, if Auxilio had not been chosen as our 
management company starting with July 1, 2020, the department would be four (4) drivers shy of our 
need for Fall 2020 to start the school year. Our own drivers in addition to others that Auxilio will hire will 
allow us to keep buses running for our students and families and to make extra trips. Auxilio has a larger 
pool to draw from with regard to the numbers of employees that work for them and their recruitment 
department/potential.  

What if none of the current bus drivers and aides choose to not work for the new company? The 
opportunity to have further discussion with Auxilio in a group meeting and 1:1 and what they offer will 
be provided in the coming weeks with information to each of our drivers on how to attend those 
meetings. They will also be attended by the Superintendent and current Transportation Director. In two 
local districts around us, of the drivers who were not retiring each district only had one (1) driver who 
did not move over to Auxilio when the District’s approved the management company. We would 
encourage all drivers/attendants that these meetings do not obligate them to anything and would 
provide you information for those willing to come, listen and ask questions.  
 
When is the next meeting for drivers? Upcoming meetings for drivers will take place starting with the 
coming week, on June 22nd from 12-4/4:30 and June 23rd starting at 8:15-noon and food will be 
provided. Both meetings will be held in the Jr./Sr. High Auditorium and you can come to one of the 
meetings or both. The format for both meetings will be the same. The Superintendent, 
Transportation/Maintenance/Custodial Director and Auxilio representatives will be present. There is NO 
OBLIGATION on the part of the employee for these meetings, but you are invited to come and listen. 
They are simply to continue lines of communication with the team, build rapport and ask questions of 
Auxilio and the District. This is a time for you to just listen and gain further information. Auxilio will go 
over any questions or concerns and share more information about wages, benefits, paid trainings, 
opportunities for advancement and additional opportunities to earn in detail. Those who attend will 
leave with a packet of information and an offer letter for their review.  

Again, there is no obligation, it is simply for the employees’ information. Once the discussion is held with 
the whole group and questions asked/answered, employees will have the opportunity to meet with 
Auxilio one-on-one. At those one-on-one meetings, employees can ask questions specific to themselves 
or that they wanted to ask in a private setting. An offer letter will be given for the employees review at 
that time as well, which they can take home to look over. There is no obligation to sign; that is the 
decision of the employee. 

All that we are doing is for our the best of our students to ensure there is transportation for them to and 
from school and extra-curriculars. It is crucial and of utmost importance, however, that we also make 
this as seamless and consistent a process as possible for our employee team. These are still our people, 



managed by another company. They are Coleman team. The goal of the District and Auxilio is not to 
come in with a lot of changes.  

How does this impact drivers? Certainly any change is difficult for everyone involved; we acknowledge 
this. Each driver is at a different stage. Drivers with 10 years’ worth of time are vested with the State of 
Michigan Office of Retirement Services (ORS). Our drivers get 15 hours per week on a typical schedule 
unless they pick up extra trips. This means that it takes 2 years on average to earn one year of credit 
through ORS. Some of our drivers are already vested with ORS, others are not. Those who are vested 
could choose to retire through ORS. It is accurate that the ORS retirement plan would not continue with 
Auxilio because it is a private company. The District currently pays 27.5% in retirement costs for all 
employees which makes it difficult to increase the pay scale. Auxilio does not have those same high 
retirement cost percentages and drivers/attendants who move to Auxilio will receive a 2.5% raise. They 
also have access to benefit options which the district does not currently provide drivers/attendants, 
401K, advancement opportunities and more. We have spoken with and brought in front of our 
drivers/attendants staff who originally worked for school districts that transferred to Auxilio when they 
took over and they are very positive about the move.  

Those who choose to work for Auxilio will get more information at the meetings next week (as 
mentioned above), including an offer letter for their review. Included in that are the following pieces of 
information with regard to other benefits/holidays, etc. Part Time- 3 PTO Days after 90 days (you can 
carry them over up to 9 max), 9 Paid Holidays, All benefit eligibility is Immediate, Also receive 3 Bonuses 
of $100 the first year ($300 total/@90 days/Midyear/end of year). Full Time- 2 weeks’ vacation (1 week 
at 6 months, 2nd week at 1 year), 3 PTO Days after 90 days (you can carry them over up to 9 max), 9 
Paid Holidays, All benefit eligibility is Immediate, Also receive 3 Bonuses of $100 the first year ($300 
total/@ 90 days/Midyear/end of year).  

Additionally, current CESPA contract for support staff for Coleman Schools indicates that those who 
retire out of MPSERS receive 25% of their daily rate for unused sick leave. This will still occur for those 
who retire out. For those who don’t retire or cannot at this point because they aren’t vested, Auxilio and 
the District have worked together on a plan for those who choose to work for Auxilio for at least 90 
days. Those employees will receive an additional bonus comparable to the accrued unused sick time at 
the 25% rate. No employee can be paid for these days twice though. It will either be through District 
retirement or Auxilio bonus. 

How will it help to bring in more drivers by using a management company? Auxilio has a full 
recruitment plan, human resources department and the staffing to support drivers in additional ways 
through training, benefits, increased pay, 401K packages, advancement opportunities, additional trips in 
the summer and after school through camps or picking up extra trips. Coleman Community Schools 
Transportation Director currently oversees three areas while also acting as a maintenance staff member, 
bus driver at times, supervising employees, providing dispatch and routing. Multiple people in the Board 
Office provide Human Resources support because there is not a Human Resource Department or 
specifically assigned personnel. The time available to Auxilio for this work is more significant and readily 



available. Currently we spend approximately $20,000 in custodial time taken from the buildings or 
substitute time to support the need for drivers and attendants.  

Does a third party management company provide a savings to the district? What is the amount of 
time spent by the Business Office and other groups or transportation related services? The primary 
goal, as stated earlier, is about ensuring drivers/attendants are available to transport our students. As 
always we also want to remain fiscally responsible to our community; therefore, contract costs with 
Auxilio are in line with current expenditures for all transportation services. All necessary recruitment, 
hiring, training, etc. will be done by the company. This will allow for Coleman’s 
Transportation/Maintenance/Custodial Director to focus more on the Maintenance/Custodial portion of 
his role and allow him to work full days, but reduce the number of 12+ hour days which are a regularity 
at this point. His time can be spent more effectively. At this time, between our custodians who are 
pulled from their positions on a daily basis to driver and substitutes, we spend approximately $20,000, 
sometimes paying time and a half to custodians who have already met their hours for the week because 
there are no other options. Another custodian spends approximately 15% of his time cleaning and 
maintaining the bus fleet which will no longer be necessary. From the Business Office, there are 7.5 
hours spent weekly on dispatch and approximately 3-4 hours weekly on payroll/ORS/HR tasks. 
Additional time is spent by the Business Manager and Superintendent for a variety of tasks and is 
dependent upon time of year and what is taking place. While there will still be a review of billing, the 
time mentioned here will be used to address other tasks related to educating students.  

Who can I contact with questions? Feel free to contact the Superintendent, Jennifer McCormack at 
989.465.6060 or jmccormack@colemanschools.net You can also connect with a Coleman Schools Board 
Member should you have any questions. Drivers/attendants with more questions can contact Auxilio 
directly. A phone number can be provided.  
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